1991

FILED SID J. WHITE

OCT 7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,568

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

vs.

ERIC NORSTROM,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER
Senior Assistant Attorney
Ceneral, Bureau Chief
Florida Bar No. 339067
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Petitioner

TABLE OF CONTE

	PAGE
TABLE OF CITATIONS	ii
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	2
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	4

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant, and Petitioner the prosecution, in the criminal division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court, except that Petitioner will also be referred to as the State. The symbol "R" refers to the record on appeal. The symbol "SR" refers to the supplemental record which is the transcript of the hearing on Respondent's motion to suppress. All emphasis has been added by Petitioner.

The opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is appended to the brief as exhibit "A".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged by third amended information with vehicular homicide, reckless driving, and two counts of culpable negligence (R 1740-1741).

A motion to suppress the statements made by Respondent at the Boynton Beach police department was filed pretrial (R 1648-1649). A hearing was held on the motion (SR), Following the submission of memorandums of law by both parties (R 1671-1705), the trial court denied the motion to suppress (R 1706). After trial, the jury returned verdicts of guilty on all counts of the third amended information (R 1396, 1761). Respondent was sentenced as an adult to a downward departure sentence (R 1814-1816). Timely notice of appeal was filed (R 1817), and Respondent proceeded with his appeal in the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion reversing Respondent's convictions, and remanding for a new trial. Norstrom v. State, 16 F.L.W. D2063 (Fla. 4th DCA August 7, 1991) [exhibit "A"]. The reversal was predicated an the District Court's finding that Respondent's statements to the Boynton Beach police officers should have been suppressed as they were for the purpose of the accident investigation. The District Court certified the following question:

Whether statements made in the course of a post accident investigation by an individual in police custody are privileged under §316.066, Florida Statutes, where Miranda warnings have been given and the individual is not told that he or she is required to answer the questions.

16 F.L.W. at D2065.

The state has sought the discretionary review of $t\,h\,i\,s$ court to address the certified question. This brief follows.

- 3 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following testimany was adduced at the motion to suppress hearing. Officer Gordon Oliphant testified that he told Respondent that he was under arrest for a traffic accident with injuries (SR 7-8, 12-13). Respondent was in custody and was not free to leave (SR 10). Officer Oliphant believed that he handcuffed Respondent (SR 7, 16, 19). Respondent was turned over to the custody of Officer Lavoie at the Boynton Beach police department (SR 10).

Officer Marie Lavoie was dispatched to the scene of the accident. The area was dark. There were seventy-five to one hundred kids there. One person was deceased, one was quite seriously injured, and others had already been transported (SR 23). Officer Lavoie checked with Sergeant Kuss who briefed her, and she took over the scene. She came in contact with Respondent at the police department at 3:19 a.m. (SR 24). She read Respondent his Miranda rights prior to his giving his statement (SR 25). Respondent signed a Misanda rights card (SR 30).

The following testimony came forth at the trial. Dr.

Jonathan Davis was on call at Bethesda Memorial Hospital and treated Charles Hamby for a severe head injury (R 573). Charles Hamby suffered a small fracture, and blood clots on the surface of the brain (R 574). The clots were removed surgically (R 577).

Dr. Oliver Jones, an orthopedic surgeon, treated Maria Feldman at the emergency roam at JFK hospital (R 580). She suffered a closed fracture of the left femur, which is the bone running from the hip to the knee. She had a partial amputation

of the tip of the great toe on the left foot (R 581). She had surgery on her toe and femur (R 582).

Officer Lavoie testified at trial. During her reconstruction of the accident, **she** located a skid mark seventy-eight feet long, which she attributed to Respondent's vehicle (R 610). She stated that Respondent was not free to leave prior to giving the statement, because she wanted to **talk** to him (R 629). Respondent's taped statement was played for the jury (R 636). The tape showed that Respondent was read and acknowledged his Miranda rights, and that he signed a Miranda rights card (R 637, 639-641). The statement given by Respondent related what occurred prior to, during, and after **the** accident (R 641-662), including Respondent's admission that he was travelling "about seventy" miles per hour (R 647).

Dwayne Penzenik estimated Respondent's speed at sixty miles per hour (R 740). Dwayne watched Respondent's car skid for quite some time (R 742). Eric Kovacs drove to the party with his cousin Dwayne Penzenik (R 852). He saw a blur of lights, and the car sliding (R 855). Maria Feldman saw Respondent's car coming, heard the sound of brakes, and heard Amber Hunter say "Oh, my god". Maria felt a lot of pain, but did not know where it was coming from (R 774). She estimated Respondent's speed at sixty miles per hour (R 800, 804).

Officer Rieger estimated that there were about one hundred people on High Ridge Road at the time of the accident (R 808).

Officer Schike estimated the speed at seventy-eight to seventy-nine miles per hour (R 949). Roger Gillespie estimated that

there were about thirty to thirty-five cars, and seventy-five people at High Ridge Road (R 836). He said that Respondent was going between seventy and seventy-five miles an hour (R 837). Roger heard tires squealing, and saw the people who were hit knocked into a ditch (R 838).

hour. He ran, and when he woke up, he was on the pavement (R 905). Before Respondent came down the road everybody was standing out in the road (R 916). Debbie Rizza estimated that one hundred or one hundred and fifty people went to High Ridge Road (R 1013, 1029). There were a lot of people, and a lot of cars (R 1029). Debbie stated that she saw the RX-7 coming in to the area without any lights on (R 1017). Eric Coak estimated the crowd at between one hundred and fifty and two hundred people (R 1153). Respondent's best friend, Shane Kerfoot, estimated that there were between one hundred and one hundred fifty people at the party (R 1080, 1082). There were one hundred people at the party when Respondent left to take Monica Howell home (R 1101).

Amber Hunter was killed by the actions of Respondent while driving his vehicle, according to medical examiner Dr. Benz (R 993). Her injuries were consistent with being hit by **a** car at high speed (R 994). Similarly, Charles Hamby and Maria Feldman were injured as a result of Respondent'scar hitting them (R 573-574, 581, 775, 982).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent's motion to suppress was properly denied, as the statement given to Officer Lavoie was not for the purpose of the accident investigation. The evidence at the hearing on the motion to suppress supports the trial court's conclusion that Respondent was the subject of a custodial interrogation. The giving, and acknowledgment of, Miranda warnings belies the District Court's finding that the questioning was for the purpose of the accident investigation. Further, the evidence was cumulative to other evidence at trial, and any erroneous admission would be harmless. The legislature has amended the accident report statute to provide that statements made can be admissible as long as the person's rights against selfincrimination are not violated. In this case, Respondent waived those rights, and the statements would definitely be admissible under the amended statute. The certified question should be answered in the negative.

ARGUMENT

STATEMENTS MADE IN THE COURSE OF A POST ACCIDENT INVESTIGATION BY AN INDIVIDUAL IN POLICE CUSTODY ARE NOT PRIVILEGED UNDER §316.066, FLORIDA STATUTES, WHERE MIRANDA WARNINGS HAVE BEEN GIVEN AND THE INDIVIDUAL IS NOT TOLD THAT HE OR SHE IS REQUIRED TO ANSWER THE QUESTIONS, AND THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION SHOULD BE QUASHED.

The State asserts that the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in the instant case was erroneously decided, and that the certified question should be answered in the negative.

The statements made by Respondent were not privileged under §316.066, Fla.Stat., and were properly admitted at trial. The motion to suppress was properly denied by the trial court.

The following facts support the trial court's finding that Respondent was in custody at the time he gave his taped statement, Officer Rieger, not Officer Lavoie, prepared the accident report which was prepared for the state department of motor vehicles (R 1694; SR 26, 47). Officer Rieger was not present during the taped interview (SR 25). Respondent was read his Miranda rights prior to the taking of the statement, and Respondent signed the rights card (SR 25, 30). The statement was voluntary (SR 25). Officer Oliphant testified that he told Respondent that he was under arrest for a traffic accident with injuries (SR 7, 8, 12-13, 17). Officer Oliphant believed he handcuffed Respondent (SR 7, 16). Sgt. Kuss told Officer Oliphant to place Respondent under arrest and take him to the station (SR 18). Although the form transcript contains language

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

regarding not being under arrest, this was never communicated to Respondent (R 1681, SR 41).

Petitioner asserts that the trial court was correct when it ruled that Respondent was the subject of custodial interrogation (SR 84). Further, the trial court was correct when it compared what the actual statement contained with what is required on an accident report (SR 75). Brackin v. Boles, 452 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1984), is the seminal case interpreting the confidentiality portion of 8316.066, Fla.Stat. Brackin held that \$316.066(4 only applies to those statements and communications that the driver of a vehicle is compelled to make to comply with his statutory duty under §316.066(1) and (2). Brackin, 452 So.2d at 544. Sections (1) and (2) address the written reports which must be made to the department of motor vehicles.² A review of the taped statement shows that the statement was not made for the purpose of the Department of Motor Vehicles accident report, but involved a far greater area. Compare R 1681-1693 with R 1694-1703. Brackin involved a departure from previous case law, which dealt with the artificial distinction between the "wearing of hats" in either the accident or criminal investigation phase. Brackin, 452 So.2d at 544.

The Fourth District's reliance on its opinion in West v.

State, 553 So.2d 254 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), for the proposition that despite Miranda warnings, a statement is not admissible unless the defendant is expressly told it is for the purpose of a

The actual accident report in this case is contained in the record at R 1694-1703. §316.068, Fla.Stat. (1987) sets forth the statutory requirements for the accident report.

criminal investigation, is m splaced. The state submits that West was improperly decided, and should also be Overturned by this court. West also confl cts with the Fourth District Court's opinion in Alley v. State, 553 So.2d 354 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), which held that the accident investigation phase continued until. the officer gave the defendant her Miranda warnings. Id., 553 So.2d at 355. 8316.062 and §316.066, Fla.Stat. provide for a duty to supply information for an accident investigation. Thus, once a person is told that he or she has the right to remain silent, how can the accident investigation be continuing? It is this contradiction which the Fourth District Court of Appeal overlooked.

Moreover, the improper admission of a statement privileged under this statute is subject to a harmless error analysis. Alley v. State, 553 So.2d 354 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); McConnell v. United States, 428 F.2d 803 (5th Cir. 1970). Petitioner asserts that due to the overwhelminy evidence of Respondent's guilt of these charged crimes, that if the admission of this statement were improper, the admission would not have contributed to the jury verdict and would be harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1138 (Fla. 1986).

Further, the legislature has amended sections 316.062, 316.066 and 324.051 effective July I, 1991. These amendments support the state's argument that the certified question should be answered in the negative, because that is in fact what the amendments say. The amended statutes are appended as exhibit "C", and the relevant portions are set forth below:

- §316.062. Duty to give information and render aid.
- (3) The statutory duty of a person to make a report or give information to a law enforcement officer making a written report relating to an accident shall not be construed as extending to information which would violate the privilege of such person against self-incrimination.
- §316.066. Written reports of accidents.
- (4) Except as specified in this subsection, each accident report made by a person involved in an accident and any statement made by such person to a law enforcement officer for the purpose of completing an accident report required by this section shall be without prejudice to the individual so reporting. No such report or statement shall be used as evidence in any trial, civil or criminal. However, subject to the applicable rules of evidence, a law enforcement officer at a criminal trial may testify as to any statement made to the officer by the person involved in the accident if that person's privilege against self-incrimination is NOT violated.
- §324.051. Reports of accidents; suspensions of licenses and registrations.
- (1)(b) The department is hereby further authorized to require reports of accidents from individual owners or operators whenever it deems it necessary for the proper administration of this chapter, and these reports shall be made without prejudice except as specified in this subsection. No such report shall be used as evidence in any trial arising out of an accident. However, subject to the applicable rules of evidence, a law enforcement officer at a criminal trial may testify as to any statement made to the officer by the person involved in the accident if that person's privilege against self-incrimination is not violated.

(Words underlined are additions).

Attached as exhibit "B" is the legislative history for the statutory amendments. The section-by-section analysis is as follows for these amendments.

Section 13 amends s. 316.062, F.S., 1990 Supplement, to provide that a person's statutory duty to give information to a law enforcement officer relating to an accident shall not be construed as extending to information which would violate the person's privilege against self-incrimination.

Sections 14 and 15 amend \$\$, 316.066 and 324.051, F.S., to provide for the admissibility of statements made in accident reporting when the privilege of self-incrimination is not violated.

Thus, on retrial, the statements found by the District Court to have been improperly admitted would be admissible since

Respondent waived his right to remain silent, and his privilege against self-incrimination was not violated. Application of the amended statute on retrial would be entirely proper since the statute is one of procedure, and is not one involving a substantive right. There would be no ex post facto violation.

The United States Supreme Court has held that a procedural change, even though it may work to the disadvantage of the defendant, does not create an ex post facto problem. Dobbert V. Florida, 432 U.S. 282, 293, 97 S.Ct. 2290, 53 L.Ed.2d 344, 356 (1977).

Even though this change in the law obviously had a detrimental impact upon the defendant, the Court found that the Law was not ex post facto because it neither made criminal a theretofore innocent act, nor aggravated a crime previously committed, nor provided greater punishment, nor changed the proof necessary to convict.

Id. See also, Beazell v. Ohio, 269 U.S. 167, 46 S.Ct. 68, 70
L.Ed. 216 (1925); Hopt v. Utah, 110 U.S. 574, 4 S.Ct. 202, 28
L.Ed. 262 (1884).

Florida law also support the use of the amended statute on retrial. This court has held:

As related to criminal law and procedure, substantive law is that which declares what acts are crimes and prescribes the punishment therefor, while procedural law is that which provides or regulates the steps by which one who violates a criminal statute is punished.

-State v. Garcia, 229 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1969). This same quote was used by Justice Adkins in his concurring opinion in <u>In re Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure</u>, 272 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1972). He further explained:

Substantive sights are those existing for their own sake and constituting the normal order of society, i.e., the rights of life, liberty, property and reputation. Remedial rights arise for the purpose of protecting or enforcing substantive rights.

Id. Under these tests, the amended statute is procedural in nature. Statutory changes in procedure apply to pending cases.

City of Orlando v. Desjanding, 493 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 1986); Batch v. State, 405 So.2d 302 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Thus, it appears that the Fourth District's opinion was incorrectly decided since it did not take into account the legislative amendment,

Since Respondent was in custody at the time he gave his statements to the police, received his Miranda warnings and waived them, and was never told that he was required to answer the questions, the accident report privilege was inapplicable. The statements were properly admitted since Respondent's right against self-incrimination was not violated.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based on the foregoing argument and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the NEGATIVE, QUASH the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and REMAND this cause with directives that Respondent's convictions and sentences be AFFIRMED.