IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner,

vs .

CASE NO: 78,568

ERIC NORSTROM, Respondent.

### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, Fourth District.

MICHAEL SALNICK, ESQUIRE SALNICK & KRISCHER One Clearlake Centre 250 Australian Avenue, South Suite 1303 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Tele: (407) 471-1000 Counsel far Respondent

##

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

<u>State</u>, 520 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). Lastly, <u>Pastori v.</u> <u>State</u>, 456 So.2d 1212 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984) goes through an analogy and utilizes <u>Brackin</u>, and involves a situation where the accused was read <u>Miranda</u> twice and then questioned. <u>Brackin</u> is cited in <u>Pastori</u> and indicates that the statute applies to the communications made by a person involved in an accident. In citing <u>Brackin</u> as well as **F.S.** 316.066, the case indicates that "moreover, any statements made by a petitioner to a police officer for purposes of completing an accident report would be privileged, and thus inadmissible." <u>Id.</u> at 1213.

Respondent's mental condition is of as much importance to what occurred that morning as anything else. Officer LaVoie indicated at the Motion To Suppress hearing that Respondent was

- 12 -

quite upset and that when they first got to the room they had to try and calm him down a little. (TMS 41) He was crying and he was upset. (R. 692) In fact, Officer LaVoie indicated that there are portions on the tape where you hear sounds indicative of crying and how upset Respondent was. (R. 694) Respondent wanted to know what the situation was with Amber Hunter and Charles (R. 694-695) In considering this, this Court should be Hamby. mindful of two cases. The first is Porter v. Pappas, 368 So.2d 909 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). This case centered on the question of whether a trial court committed reversible error in admitting into evidence a written and signed statement made by a minor operator of an automobile to officers at the scene of an accident to the effect that the minor did not have permission of the owner or primary user of the automobile to drive it at the time of the The case involved Lori Boehn and Helen accident. <u>Id.</u> at 910. Pappas. The vehicle in question was owned by Lori's father, Frederick. Lori testified that the day of the accident, she and her friend, Helen, along with some others had gone to the beach. They returned to Helen's home to take showers. While Lori was showering, Helen took the ignition keys that Lori had left in the bathroom and drove away in Lori's vehicle. She drove only a short distance but was involved in an accident causing serious injuries to another party. Lori told the jury that when she came out of the shower she didn't realize her keys were gone and then she learned that her friend had been in an accident. She indicated that she never gave permission for her friend to use the vehicle, Shortly after the accident occurred, a park police officer

- 13 -

apprehended Helen and took her back to the scene of the accident, turning her over to an investigating officer. The investigating officer testified at trial that it was his responsibility to prepare the traffic report. When he arrived, a traffic homicide investigator was sent because of the possibility that a death may This officer testified that once he appeared at have occurred. the accident site, he was in charge and directed the other officer to assist him. Once this second officer arrived, in the presence of the park officer, he gave Helen her Miranda rights and then took a written statement from her. He did not advise Helen that he was investigating for a possible homicide or that the report would not be made part of the traffic report to be filed in Tallahassee. He did not advise her that his report was any different than any other police officer's report. The report contained the statement made by Helen that she took the vehicle without permission notwithstanding her testimony to the contrary. Id. at 910-911. Over objection, her statement was admitted at trial. She contended on appeal that it was reversible error for the trial court to admit the written statement into evidence because she was never informed that the statement was not being taken as part of the traffic accident In reversing the judgment and holding that the statement report. was privileged, the Porter court relied on Nash Miami Incorporated v. Ellsworth, 129 So.2d 704 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1961). In that opinion, the Third District Court of Appeal noted as follows:

> That Appellee **urges** that the second report **given** to Officer Fontana was not an accident report within the meaning of the statute, He

> > - 14 -

argues that the statement given to Officer Fontana was not for the purpose of making an accident report but for discovery and possible criminal charges which might arise from the accident. From the viewpoint of the person interrosated there is little difference. The distinction, to have meaning would require realization by a person charaed with doing such a report that one officer was reporting the accident while the second who asked the same questions was not reporting the accident. Supra, at 129 So.2d 706. Id. at 911. (Emphasis supplied.)

The importance of this goes to the fact that even though the <u>Miranda</u> rights were read, it made no difference. The person interrogated is the one whose viewpoint needs to be considered.

Elder v. Ackerman, 362 So.2d 999 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), presented a similar situation. This case also involved the admissibility of a statement by a driver of a vehicle given to a police officer at the scene of an accident. Ackerman was a sixteen (16) year old high school boy who was involved in an accident in which two (2) individuals were killed. Following the accident, a deputy sheriff arrived and proceeded with a traffic accident investigation. Thereafter, a detective arrived to assist in the investigation. The traffic accident investigator interrogated Ackerman to obtain information for the accident report. Ackerman was then interrogated further by the same officer who did the accident investigation and also read him his <u>Miranda</u> rights. After the accident investigator received sufficient information for the accident report, the second officer proceeded to interrogate Ackerman further about the accident. Ackerman apparently told this second officer that

he was not sure what color the traffic light was when he entered the intersection, yet at trial, Ackerman testified that he had a green light. <u>Id.</u> at 1000. The trial court refused to admit the testimony which Ackerman gave to the officer investigating a **possible** homicide. <u>Id.</u> at 1000. There was no showing that Ackerman knew when the accident investigation ended and the criminal investigation began. The <u>Elder</u> court noted that the only **possible** indication of a different character of the investigation was the fact that Walsh advised Ackerman of his constitutional rights. But so did McDonough during his interrogation for the accident report. <u>Id.</u> at 1002.

In the instant case, Officer LaVoie was both the accident investigator and the criminal case investigator. Her reading Respondent his rights at the beginning of the statement is similar to the rights being read in <u>Elder</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Porter</u>, <u>supra</u>; and <u>Pastori</u>, <u>supra</u>. It makes no difference in this case because there was only one officer. One must also consider the emotion of the situation and the terrible injuries to individuals who were Respondent's friends, as well as the fact that Respondent was sixteen (16) years old. The Fourth District Court of Appeal put the problem in its proper perspective when it indicated:

"How is a sixteen (16) year old boy at the scene of a serious auto accident and the emotional upset which usually accompanies such an experience supposed to discern the nuances that the dichotomy existing between investigations for automobile accident reports and investigations for the criminal aspects of automobile accidents?" Ackerman, supra, at 1002.

- 16 -

Respondent's uncontradicted testimony was that he understood he was providing information for the accident investigation.

In West v. State, 553 So.2d 254 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), the court again took up the question of the accident investigation privilege. West was subjected to express questioning both before and after being informed of his Miranda rights. The District Court held that "because the police never apprised West of the distinction between the accident and criminal phases of the investigation, we hold that the statements at issue fall within the accident investigation privilege and are thus inadmissible pursuant to F.S. 316.066(4)." In reaching this decision the court notes:

> "Recognizing that it may be difficult for a defendant to realize when an accident investigation has ended and a criminal investigation has begun, courts have held that <u>unless a defendant has been apprised</u> by Police that the questions being **asked** ate Part of a criminal investisation, the statements made in response to those questions will be deemed privileged pursuant to F.S. 316.066 (4)." Id. at 256. (Emphasis supplied,)

In reversing the instant case, the Fourth District, reviewing the various records on appeal, reviewing legal precedent, and considering arguments from both parties, held the following:

> "We conclude that it was an abuse of discretion to admit Appellant's statement at trial. The officer's reading Appellant <u>Miranda</u> warnings, alone, does not change the nature of the investigation. <u>West v.</u> <u>State</u>. Not only did the officer testify that she was conducting an accident investigation after the warnings were given, but the remarks she made at the time of the warning suggest that is precisely what she

> > - 17 -

Axiomatically, "litigation must, at some point, come to an end." <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980), <u>cert. denied</u> **449 U.S.** 1067 (1981). The Fourth District's thorough and unequivocal decision in <u>Norstrom v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, clearly indicates that the Court **firmly** believes that the law relating to the accident report privilege was violated, so as to mandate a new trial.

The Respondent would further assert that the Fourth District correctly applied the controlling law to the facts of this case.

- 18 -

# B. <u>The privileged statements of the Respondent erroneously</u> introduced in the trial were **not** harmless.

The admission of Respondent's statements could hardly be considered harmless error. This was an extremely sensitive and emotional case which caught the heart and emotion of the entire community. Without Respondent's statements, he could have possibly been found guilty of only Reckless Driving or Culpable Negligence. Respondent, besides discussing speed, admitted, when explaining what happened, that he had also had some beer to drink at the house party as well as a sip of liquor out on High Ridge Road. The State had no problem in reminding the jury of this. Numerous witnesses who claimed to have information regarding the accident either heard it or saw only part of it. Some of them were also feeling the effects of alcohol. Respondent's statements enabled a jury to convict him of Vehicular Homicide. The ramifications of the trial court's ruling in the context of this case can hardly be considered harmless. This Court cannot overlook that on top of this evidence, there was testimony regarding victim injury, which even the State conceded may have invoked sympathy.

In the instant appeal, the Fourth District addressed this very issue when it held that:

Additionally, on remand, we caution the trial court to use care to restrict the introduction of unnecessary inflammatory evidence concerning the victim's physical condition and the details of surgical procedures, and to use particular caution against prejudicial use of family member witnesses for identification where

- 19 -

other credible witnesses are available, (Cites omitted) <u>Norstrom v. State</u>, <u>supra.</u>

Respondent's statements were hardly harmless. The Respondent gave his statements pursuant to an **accident** investigation. The law enforcement officers involved in the instant case, themselves, acknowledged this fact. **Based** on the foregoing as **well** as the previous facts and arguments presented herein, Respondent maintains that the State has **not** even arguably met **its** burden of demonstrating beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Both this High Court and the United States Supreme Court have held that the party who is the beneficiary of the error has the burden of demonstrating beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless in the **sense** that it did not cause or contribute to the order **under review**. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, **491** So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) and <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), <u>rehearing</u> <u>denied</u>, **386 U.S.** 987 (1967).

The Fourth District, in the instant case, held that:

Consequently, the court's admitting the statement was error. It is also apparent that the error was not harmless. <u>State v.</u> <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). <u>Norstrom v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>.

This Honorable Court must affirm the Fourth District's holding that the introduction of the Respondent's confidential communications were privileged and that the error was not harmless.

## C. <u>The accident report privilege statute as amended in</u> <u>1991 is a violation of the Prohibition against ex post facto</u> <u>legislation as applied to the Respondent.</u>

The State's attempted use of Florida Statute 316.066 **as** amended and effective **July 1**, 1991, to introduce evidence in a criminal prosecution stemming from an **alleged** offense occurring in 1988, violates the constitutional ban against ex post facto legislation. U.S. Constitution, Article I, Section 9 (federal) and 10 (state), and Article I, Section 10, of the Florida Constitition. Every law that alters the **legal** rules of evidence, and receives different testimony than the law required at the time of the commission of the offense, in order to convict the offender, is **ex post** facto. <u>Calder v. Bull</u>, 3 U.S. (3 Dall.) 386, 1 L.Ed. 648 (1798). More recently, the U.S. Supreme Court in Weaver v. Graham, **450** U.S. **24**, **67** L.Ed. 17,23 (1981), held that:

> Through this prohibition, the Framers sought to assure that legislative Acts give fair warning of their effect and permit individuals to rely on their meaning until explicitly changed. <u>Id.</u>

Ex post facto prohibition is concerned with retroactive changes in evidence and procedure which operate to the disadvantage of an accused by making a conviction easier. <u>Calder</u> <u>v. Bull</u>, <u>supra</u>. A statute which changes the burden of proof on the prosecution from the usual rule of beyond a reasonable doubt to one of the preponderance of the evidence is ex post facto if retroactive. <u>Thompson v. Missouri</u>, 171 U.S. 380 (1898). A retroactive statutory change in the rules of evidence is **ex** post facto, when it admits formerly inadmissible evidence which is favorable to the prosecution. <u>Walker v. State</u>, **433** So.2d **469** (Ala. 1983), repeal of law making inadmissible statement by child while in custody of police officers; <u>Plachv v. State</u>, 91 Tex. Crim. R. **405**, 239 S.W. 979 (1922), change from a rule requiring corroboration of the testimony of an accomplice to one abolishing the corroboration requirement is **ex** post facto as to past offenses; and, <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 12 Minn. **476**, 12 Gilf. 378 (1867), change from a rule requiring conviction only on direct evidence to one allowing conviction on either direct or circumstantial evidence.

In the instant appeal, the State is attempting to utilize legislative changes to the accident report privilege which took effect July 1, 1991, when the accident and statements resulting from said accident occurred three years earlier, in 1988. The Fourth District held that the Respondent's statements were inadmissible as privileged communications based on Florida Statute 316.066 (1988). <u>Norstrom v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. The result sought by the State would clearly violate the prohibition against **ex post** facto legislation.

A similar situation occurred in Alabama when the state utilized, in a criminal prosecution, statements made by a child that when made were inadmissible. Through legislative change, these statements became admissible, and the state used them to obtain a conviction. The Alabama Supreme Court reversed this conviction holding that such legislation as it pertained to statements made prior to its enactment violated the prohibition against ex post facto laws. <u>Walker v. State</u>, <u>supra.</u>

sub judice, the 1991 statutory amendment as applied to the Respondent is clearly an **ex** post facto application. Most respectfully, **this** Honorable Court should either **affirm** the holding of the Fourth District Court or deny certiorari review **altogether**.

# D. <u>The application of the 1991 amendment to the accident</u> report privilege as applied to the Respondent bas not been <u>Preserved for certiorari review.</u>

Review should also be denied because the issue of whether the 1991 statutory amendment applies to the Respondent is not properly before this Court. The Fourth District issued its opinion on **August 7,** 1991. The statutory amendment **took effect** on July 1, 1991; however, the State never supplied this legislative change to the District Court by either supplemental authority or by way of rehearing. This issue is now being raised for the first time before this Honorable Court; as such, the Respondent would submit that this issue has not been preserved for review, and has effectively been waived,

It is a fundamental principle of appellate practice that a claim of error must be preserved for review by the presentation of a specific issue in the lower tribunal at an appropriate stage of the proceedings. <u>See</u> generally: <u>Smith v. State</u>, **424 So.2d** 726 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert. denied</u>, 462 U.S. 1145 (1983). In the absence of fundamental error, this Court should not grant its discretionary review of this issue which is being presented now for the first time, It is well established that a party may not argue a claim or defense based on one theory at the trial level and then assert a different theory on appellate review. <u>Palm</u> <u>Beach Aviation, Inc. v. Kibildis</u>, **423 So.2d 1011 (Fla.** 4th DCA 1982); and <u>Mt. Sinai Hospital of Greater Miami v. Steiner</u>, 426 So.2d 1154 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983). Respondent vehemently maintains that the same logic must apply to the instant appeal, Even though the 1991 amendment to the accident report privilege statute was in effect prior to the Fourth District rendering its opinion, the State never filed supplemental authority, nor did the state file fox a rehearing after the opinion was filed. Rather, the State sought immediate review with this Court raising for the first time the application of a new statute. Thus, this particular argument by the State is not properly before the Court and should not even be considered.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons and arguments set forth herein and based on the well reasoned and correct holding by the Fourth District, which was based on logic, precedent and statutory authority, the Respondent respectfully prays this Honorable Court to affirm the District Court's opinion. Additionally, based on the various arguments raised herein, the Court should deny certiorari review altogether.